IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

STATE OF OHIO,	:
	: Case No. 2020-0312
Plaintiff-Appellee,	:
	: On Appeal from the
V.	: Stark County Court of Appeals,
	: Fifth Appellate District,
THEODIS MONTGOMERY,	: Case No. 2019CA00012
	:
Defendant-Appellant.	:

MERIT BRIEF OF APPELLANT THEODIS MONTGOMERY

Stark County Prosecutor's Office

KRISTINE W. BEARD,0042445 Assistant Prosecuting Attorney (COUNSEL OF RECORD)

110 South Central Plaza, Suite 510
Canton, Ohio 44702
(330) 451-7897
(330) 451-7965 – Fax
kwbeard@starkcountyohio.gov

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF OHIO

Office of the Ohio Public Defender

ADDISON M. SPRIGGS, 0097713 Assistant State Public Defender (COUNSEL OF RECORD)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case concerns the credibility and believability of A.B. compared with that of Theodis Montgomery. A.B., the alleged victim, sat at counsel table during voir dire and the trial and was introduced to the jury as a representative of the State. These actions by the State, and allowed by the trial court, impermissibly bolstered her credibility in a case that rested solely on her credibility.

I. Over Mr. Montgomery's objection, the trial court allowed A.B. to sit at counsel table and introduced her to the jury as a representative of the State.

On the day of trial, the State informed the court of its decision to designate A.B. as its

representative. (November 13, 2018 Vol. 1 Tp. 10.) Defense counsel objected both to her

designation as a representative of the State and to her presence at counsel table:

Judge, I would object to the request by the State of Ohio to designate the alleged victim in this case as a State's representative. [A.B.] has no affiliation with the State of Ohio in any capacity. Her presence here as a victim, alleged victim, and a witness for the State of Ohio, and if the State wants to keep her in the courtroom during the entirety of the trial while Mr. Montgomery is here, she can sit as a witness in the courtroom, but I think to keep her at counsel table would be prejudicial to Mr. Montgomery, and I would ask that the request not be granted. I've, I've never seen this request in the past in my career. I don't know what the practice is here in Stark County, but I would object.

(*Id.* at 11.) The trial court overruled the objection stating:

Well, it's not – I don't think it's so much Stark County, I think it's, you know, we have a new era under Marsy's law and under 2930 and the amendment to the Constitution. I think it's different because I will agree with you that I have never had this particular situation arise either. Certainly representatives have been designated, but given the amendment to the Constitution that was passed by voters of the State of Ohio, and given my understanding of that law, I think that [the prosecutor] is certainly correct in the statement that she does have, according to that, a right to be present in the courtroom for that.

(Id. at 11-12.) The potential jurors were then brought into the room. The trial court proceeded to

introduce those seated at counsel table:

I would like to introduce everyone in the room to you so that you know who we all are. *** The Stark County Prosecutor is John Ferrero, representing his office today is Attorney Mike Bickis. *** And seated with him is the State's representative in this case, [A.B.]. (*Id.* at 47.)

II. The State's case relied on the testimony of A.B.

A.B. was the first witness to testify. Additional witnesses for the State included Loralee Bidlingmaier, the SANE nurse who examined A.B.; Detective Mongold, who investigated the case; and Samuel Troyer, the BCI technician who analyzed samples collected from A.B.. (November 14, 2018 Vol. II Tp. 336, 514, 579; November 15, 2018 Vol. III Tp. 626.) A.B. admitted she spent time with Mr. Montgomery in 2017. (November 14, 2018 Vol. II Tp. 345.) They would smoke marijuana, and watch Netflix together. (*Id.* at 345.) Mr. Montgomery set up her Roku stick. (*Id.*) Mr. Montgomery gave A.B. rides and money. (*Id.* at 346.)

According to A.B., her relationship with Mr. Montgomery's deteriorated in December of 2017 when Mr. Montgomery created a fake Facebook page in the name of Michael Strychalski. (*Id.* at 349-350.) A.B. and Mr. Strychalski were in a relationship while Mr. Strychalski was incarcerated. (*Id.* at 340-342.) Mr. Strychalski was set to be released from prison 96 days after the March 16, 2018 incident. (*Id.* at 341.)

On March 15, 2018, A.B. went to her father's house, where Mr. Montgomery also lived, to smoke marijuana with her father. (*Id.* at 353, 356.) A.B. decided to stay the night and slept on the floor in the back room. (*Id.* at 357-361.) The next morning, after the rest of the family left for vacation, A.B. said she was awoken by Mr. Montgomery barging into the room, yelling, and punching her in the mouth. (*Id.* at 362-365.) A.B. then went to the restroom, and testified Mr. Montgomery watched. (*Id.* at 367-368.)

A.B. testified Mr. Montgomery then moved her to the basement by holding her wrist. (*Id.* at 368-369.) A.B. claimed Mr. Montgomery threatened her with zip ties and then made her choose a punishment – cleaning out a dog kennel. (*Id.* at 371-372, 375-378.) After sitting in the basement,

Mr. Montgomery told her he wanted to take a shower. (*Id.*) A.B. volunteered to accompany Mr. Montgomery to the bathroom while he showered instead of staying in the basement. (*Id.* at 378.) A.B. claims that, once in the bathroom, Mr. Montgomery made her take her clothes off, take a shower with him, and engage in vaginal intercourse. (*Id.* at 378-380.)

After the shower, Mr. Montgomery allegedly carried A.B. over his shoulder back into the back room where she slept. (*Id.* at 381.) A.B. said that, while back in the room, Mr. Montgomery got on top of her and they engaged in vaginal intercourse. (*Id.* at 382.) According to A.B., Mr. Montgomery asked if she wanted him to stop. When she said yes, Mr. Montgomery stopped. (*Id.* at 382.) Mr. Montgomery and A.B. then sat talking about their children before Mr. Montgomery cooked a meal. (*Id.* at 383-384.)

A.B. testified that, Mr. Montgomery threatened to keep her tied up until her family returned from their vacation. (*Id.* at 386-387.) When A.B. told Mr. Montgomery she had a headache and wanted to go, he said "Okay, yeah." (*Id.* at 387.) A.B. testified that she then gathered her daughter's birthday gifts and left the house. (*Id.* at 387-388.)

After leaving her father and Mr. Montgomery's home, A.B. called her sister, Nicole Johnson, and then spoke with Mr. Strychalski. (*Id.* at 389-391.) A.B. then spoke with her father who was in Florida. (*Id.* at 391.) She went to the Mercy Medical Center and called police. (*Id.* at 391, 399-400.) At the hospital Ms. Bidlingmaier examined A.B. and collected evidence. (*Id.* at 524-535.)

Officer's Schmidt, Stern and Detective Mongold arrived at Mercy Medical Center, where they met A.B. (*Id.* at 581.) After leaving the hospital, Det. Mongold received consent from A.B.'s father to enter the house he shared with Mr. Montgomery. (*Id.* at 584-585.) Det. Mongold and Det.

3

Weirich used an alternate light source to search the home for trace evidence and found none. (*Id.* at 587.) The detectives collected a bloody tissue and took photos of the home. (*Id.* at 587-589.)

Samuel Troyer, a DNA analyst from BCI, tested the vaginal and anal/perianal samples collected from A.B. at the hospital. (November 15, 2018 Vol. III Tp. 631; State's Exhibit 9.) He determined that the samples were positive for acid phosphatase, a concentrated protein found in semen. (*Id.* at 633.) Mr. Montgomery was included as a potential contributor of the tested samples. (*Id.* at 634; State's Exhibit 9.)

III. The defense argued Mr. Montgomery and A.B. had a consensual sexual relationship.

Defense counsel questioned A.B. on the nature of her relationship with Mr. Montgomery and attacked her credibility through witness testimony. Witnesses for the defense included A.B.'s sister, A.B.'s father, A.B.'s grandmother, A.B.'s grandfather; and Julio Garcia, who lived in a van parked next to the house in which Mr. Montgomery and A.B.'s father lived.

To impeach her testimony, defense counsel questioned A.B. on her texting habits with Mr. Montgomery, the discrepancies in her report to police, and her timeline of events. A.B. testified that in the more than fifteen years that she has known him, Mr. Montgomery has never been violent towards her. (November 14, 2018 Vol. II Tp. 499.) In the span of two days in December 2017, Mr. Montgomery and A.B. texted 53 times, starting at 4AM. (November 14, 2018 Vol. II Tp. 407-416.) When Officer Stern and Detective Mongold interviewed A.B. at the Mercy Hospital, she failed to tell him that she went to the bathroom and Mr. Montgomery watched her. (*Id.* at 461-464.) Counsel also questioned A.B.'s body placement at the time of the alleged punch and whether she could be injured on the right side of her face due to her body placement on the ground. (*Id.* at 446-455.) A.B. testified that she was bleeding from the punch, yet no blood was found on anything that she touched or on the floor of the house. (*Id.* at 464-467.)

A.B.'s father was not surprised when his daughter showed up to his home on March 15, 2018. (*Id.* at 671.) His family would come and go frequently. (*Id.*) Also, A.B.'s father believed that she and Mr. Montgomery were "creeping around, messing around." (*Id.* at 676.) A.B.'s father thought they were "seeing each other here and there." (*Id.* at 677.) In that context, he was not concerned that Mr. Montgomery and A.B. were at the house alone on March 16, 2018 because he "thought they was doing – shooting it regular, doing it, you know." (*Id.* at 681.) While in Florida, A.B.'s father received a call from his daughter, Nicole, about the incident at his house. (*Id.*) After this call, A.B.'s father made several calls to A.B. and to Mr. Montgomery. (*Id.* at 681-696.) He found out from Mr. Montgomery that they had sex and A.B. confirmed that on a follow-up call with him. (*Id.* at 692-694.)

A.B.'s grandmother and grandfather both testified. A.B.'s grandmother spoke with her father on the night of the incident. (*Id.* at 745-746.) She stated the phone call didn't sound "like a frantic phone call. Like some your grandkids would, you know, be screaming, hollering and yelling, or something, wasn't nothing like that." (*Id.* at 746.) When A.B.'s grandmother saw her the following day, she acted "like nothing happened." (*Id.* at 755.)

When A.B.'s grandfather heard something happened to her on March 16, 2018, his response was: "I'm not going nowhere because I know how my granddaughter is." (*Id.* at 767.) He did go over to the house and let officers in to collect evidence. (*Id.* at 767-768.) A.B.'s grandfather saw her the day after the incident. (*Id.* at 781.) He questioned her "If all this happened what you said, where's the marks on your face at? ... [I]f your nose is busted and bleeding now, I said, you would have had black eyes or something. I said, where's all these marks at." (*Id.* at 781-782.) A.B. became enraged when no one believed her and "storm[ed] out the house and knock[ed] the grill

down." (*Id.* at 661, 782.) A.B.'s sister and grandparents testified the house looked normal and was not in disarray. (November 15, 2018 Vol. III Tp. 652-653, 749-750, 771.)

The final defense witness was Julio Garcia, a homeless man who was living in a van outside of the house where Mr. Montgomery and A.B.'s father lived. (*Id.* at 804.) On the day the allegations reference, Mr. Garcia saw Mr. Montgomery in the backyard throwing away cardboard. (*Id.* at 808.) Mr. Garcia also saw Mr. Montgomery and A.B. come outside of the house together. (*Id.* at 811-812.) According to Mr. Garcia, they were acting "cool" together, Mr. Montgomery carried a gift bag to A.B.'s car. (*Id.* at 812.) Mr. Garcia did not see any injuries to Ms. Burt's face. (*Id.* at 817.)

IV. Court proceedings.

A.B. pressed charges and Mr. Montgomery was indicted on July 12, 2018 for kidnapping with a repeat violent offender specification and with a sexual motivation specification and rape with a repeat violent offender specification. (Stark County Common Pleas Court Case 2018CR1205, July 12, 2018 Indictment.) After a three-day jury trial, Mr. Montgomery was convicted of all charges. (November 16, 2019 Jury Verdict.) The Court held a repeat violent offender hearing on November 27, 2018 and found Mr. Montgomery to be a repeat violent offender. (RVO Hearing November 27, 2019 Tp. 28-30.) The trial court sentenced Mr. Montgomery to ten years for kidnapping to run concurrently to a sentence of ten years for rape. (*Id.* at 49.)

Mr. Montgomery filed a timely appeal in the Fifth District Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Montgomery's convictions. (Case No. 2019CA12, December 9, 2019 Opinion.) The Court of Appeals determined under the Ohio Constitution, Article I, Section 10a, commonly referred to as "Marsy's Law," Evid. R. 615(B)(4), and R.C. 2930.09, the victim has the

6

right to be present in the court room at any stage of the proceeding. (*Id.* at \P 18-24.) The appellate court found there was only a generalized assertion of prejudice and it is clear the victim's presence is permitted in by statute and the Constitution. (*Id.* at \P 24.) The appellate court did not address the specific argument of the victim sitting at counsel table or being introduced to the jury as a representative of the State. (*Id.* at \P 18-24.) Mr. Montgomery filed a motion for reconsideration, which was denied. He additionally filed a motion to reopen his appeal, which was also denied.

ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF PROPOSITION OF LAW

PROPOSITION OF LAW

An appellant is denied his right to a fair trial guaranteed by the 6th and 14th amendments to the United States Constitution when a trial court permits an alleged victim to be introduced to the jury during voir dire as representing the State of Ohio and permits them to sit with the Prosecutor for the State at counsel table throughout the entire trial in front of the jury.

I. Introduction.

The State summarized this case during opening: "At the end of the trial, you all are going to have a hard decision. You're going to decide whether you believe this young woman..." (November 13, 2018 Vol. 1 Tp. 300.) Fundamentally, this is a he-said, she-said case where the sole question for the jury to decide was whether the sexual intercourse was consensual. To find Mr. Montgomery guilty of rape and kidnapping, the jury needed to believe A.B. instead of Mr. Montgomery's witnesses.

By allowing A.B. to sit at counsel table as the State's expressly declared representative, the trial court functionally permitted the State to vouch for her credibility. And though the trial court based its decision on Article I, Section 10a of the Ohio Constitution, there is nothing in the text of Marsy's Law that gives victims the right to sit at counsel table with the prosecutor as the State's representative. Because Marsy's Law does not require trial courts to permit victims to sit at counsel table with the State, this case does not present a conflict between the Constitutional rights of defendants and the Constitutional rights of victims. Instead, it is solely about Mr. Montgomery's right to a fair trial, which was undermined by the placement of A.B. at counsel table and the declaration that she was there as a representative of the State. This prejudiced Mr. Montgomery and necessitates the reversal of his conviction.

II. Allowing a victim to sit as the State's representative denies defendants the right to a fair trial.

A. The Constitutional framework.

A defendant has the constitutional right to a fair trial. The Supreme Court of the United States has recognized that "certain courtroom practices are so inherently prejudicial that they deprive the defendant of a fair trial." *Carey v. Musladin*, 549 U.S. 70, 72, 127 S.Ct. 649, 166 L.Ed.2d 482 (2006), citing *Estelle v. Williams*, 425 U.S. 501, 503-506, 96 S.Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976); *Holbrook v. Flynn*, 475 U.S. 560, 568, 106 S.Ct. 1340, 89 L.Ed.2d 525 (1986). The United States Constitution prohibits any courtroom practice or arrangement which undermines the presumption of innocence and fairness in the fact-finding process. *United States v. Larson*, 460 F.3d 1200 (9th Cir. 2006) *aff'd en banc*, citing *Deck v Missouri*, 544 U.S. 622, 630, 125 S.Ct. 2007, 61 L.Ed.2d 953 (2005).

This presumption is undermined when the practice or arrangement creates an unacceptable risk of impermissible factors coming into play. *Larson*, 460 F.3d at 1214, quoting *Estelle*, 425 U.S. at 505. A courtroom practice or arrangement that creates such risk is inherently prejudicial regardless of actual prejudice. *Flynn*, 475 U.S. at 586; *Estelle*, 425 U.S. at 503-511, citing *Turner v. Louisiana*, 379 U.S. 466, 471-474, 85 S.Ct. 546, 13 L.Ed.2d 424 (1965).

B. Allowing victims to sit as the State's representative vouches for and bolsters their testimony and undermines the presumption of innocence.

1. Law enforcement is often designated as the State's representative.

It is well settled that "in a criminal prosecution, a representative of the law enforcement agency handling the prosecution – even if the representative is a witness – may assist the prosecutor during trial and may remain in the courtroom although separation of witnesses has been ordered." *State v. Fuller*, 1st Dist. Hamilton No. C-960753, 1997 WL 598404, *1 (Sept. 26, 1997), aff'd 83

Ohio St.3d 108, 698 N.E.2d 977 (1998). Moreover, trial courts have discretion to allow a State's designated representative to avoid sequestration requirements under Evid.R. 615(2). *See United States v. Wells*, 437 F.2d 1144, 1146 (6th Cir.1971); *State v. Carbone*, 11th Dist. Trumbull Case No. 96-T-5390, 1997 WL 799557, *4 (Dec. 19, 1997). The Sixth Circuit, when interpreting the analogous federal rule of evidence, has stated "[t]he law in this circuit was settled that the case agent may remain in the courtroom even when other witnesses were being sequestered." *United States v. Martin*, 920 F.2d 393, 397 (6th Cir.1990). But case agents are the exception to the sequestration rule because, unlike other witnesses:

The case agent is the prosecutor's information source and even if the agent were excluded, the prosecutor would still have to reveal to him what other witnesses had said and done in order to map out strategy. This would defeat the whole purpose of sequestration.

Id. at 397.

A.B. does not fall into the same category as a law enforcement officer. Her integrity and credibility were directly questioned in this case. A police officer investigating a crime is more regularly testifying to the procedural actions they took in the case; their personal credibility is not often questioned to the same extent that A.B.'s was in this case. Additionally, unlike law enforcement, A.B. was not able to assist the prosecution with its other witnesses. As a final distinction, police officers and prosecutors are both agents of the government involved in a criminal prosecution. While they both represent the State in different capacities, the same cannot be said about A.B.

2. The prosecutor vouched for A.B.'s credibility by designating her as the representative of the State of Ohio and allowing her to sit at counsel table.

Vouching occurs when a prosecutor "implies knowledge of facts outside the record or places his or personal credibility in issue." *State v. Davis*, 116 Ohio St.3d 404, 2008-Ohio-2, 880 N.E.2d 31, ¶ 232.

This Court has given the State latitude to make missteps that relate to witness credibility. This Court has held that improper questions that are isolated in time do not constitute prosecutorial vouching. *State v. Skatzes*, 104 Ohio St.3d 195, ¶ 188, 2004-Ohio-6391, 819 N.E.2d 215. In *Skatzes*, the prosecutor made several statements related to its investigation and inmate testimony. When the prosecutor's statements were improper, objections were sustained by the trial court. *Id.* at ¶ 182-188. This Court determined these minor statements were isolated incidents and the prosecutor's questions could not be taken out of context. As a result, there was no vouching. *Id.* at ¶ 188. In *State v. Cornwell*, this Court found questions concerning plea bargains to be "brief, not overly emphasized, and were made at the close of the prosecutor's examination of each witness. Given the isolated nature of these particular questions to these witnesses, these questions should not be misinterpreted, taken out of context, or given their most damaging meaning." *State v. Cornwell*, 86 Ohio St.3d 560, 571, 1999-Ohio-125, 715 N.E.2d 1144.

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