# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF OHIO

STATE OF OHIO,

CASE NO. 2020-0312

Plaintiff-Appellee,

On appeal from the Stark County Court of Appeals,

\*\*

Fifth Appellate District Case No. 2019CA00012

VS.

THEODIS MONTGOMERY,

Defendant-Appellant.

# MERIT BRIEF OF APPELLEE STATE OF OHIO

# Office of the Stark County Prosecutor

JOHN D. FERRERO, PROSECUTING ATTORNEY, Sup. Ct. Reg. No. 0018590

KRISTINE W. BEARD Sup. Ct. Reg. No. 0042445 Assistant Prosecuting Attorney Appellate Section 110 Central Plaza, South - Suite 510 Canton, Ohio 44702-1413 (330) 451-7897 FAX: (330) 451-7965 kwbeard@starkcountyohio.gov

Counsel of Record for Appellee

### Office of the Ohio Public Defender

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

Finally, the Amicus falsely argues that a the record of proceedings can not be used to establish prejudice by the presence of the victim-witness at counsel table. As an example the Amicus argues that continued conversations between the State and the victim-witness may be viewed by the jury but are not reflected in the record of proceedings.

This is hardly the case, a record can reflect courtroom procedures and protocols. The defense can make an objection or proffer the nature of unusual disruptive or distracting behavior in the courtroom. On appeal, pursuant to Rules App.Proc., Rule 9, the defendant can seek to preserve any unrecorded issues.

In this case, the record does not reflect that the presence of the victim-witness at counsel table was prejudicial to the defense. There is no evidence that the victim behaved improperly in front of the jury. The record does not reflect that the victim and the State constantly colluded as the Amicus suggest in its brief. There is no objection or proffer by the defense of improper or prejudicial behavior at State's counsel table. There is nothing to suggest that the victim was overly emotional or disruptive in any manner during the trial. Finally, there is no record of the defense moving the court to remove the victim from the proceedings for being disruptive and engaging in otherwise prejudicial behavior.

# II. THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WAS NOT VIOLATED BY A VICTIM'S PRESENCE AT COUNSEL TABLE DURING ALL STAGES OF THE CRIMINAL TRIAL.

Because Montgomery can not establish actual prejudice, he is forced to argue that permitting a victim-witness to be present at counsel table is inherently prejudicial. Montgomery argues that this practice implicitly bolsters the credibility of the witness. The Amicus argues that permitting the victim to be present at counsel table is structural error. In either case, they both argue that in this instance no showing, of actual prejudice is necessary. However, merely permitting the victim-witness to be present at counsel table does not amount to the State giving the

jury a personal assurance that the witness is credible and does not brand the defendant with an unmistakable mark of guilt.

# A. Vouching in a criminal proceeding.

Vouching constitutes an assurance by the prosecuting attorney of the credibility of a Government witness through personal knowledge or by other information outside of the testimony before the jury. *United States v. Lawn*, 355 U.S. 339, 359 n. 15, 78 S.Ct. 311, 323 n. 15, 2 L.Ed.2d 321 (1958). See also *United States v. Necoechea*, 986 F.2d 1273, 1276 (9th Cir.1993). A prosecutor's vouching for the credibility of a government witness raises two concerns: (1) such comments can convey the impression that evidence not presented to the jury, but known to the prosecutor, supports the charges against the defendant and can thus jeopardize the defendant's right to be tried solely on the basis of the evidence presented to the jury; and (2) the prosecutor's opinion carries with it the imprimatur of the Government and may induce the jury to trust the Government's judgment rather than its own view of the evidence. *United States v. Young*, 470 U.S. 1, 18, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 1048, 84 L.Ed.2d 1 (1985); *United States v. Molina-Guevara*, 96 F.3d 698, 704 (3d Cir.1996).

The impact of improper vouching requires a harmless error analysis.

# B. Structural error in a criminal proceeding.

In *Weaver v. Massachusetts*, \_\_ U.S. \_\_, 137 S.Ct.1899, 198 L.Ed.2d 420 (2017), the Court considered a structural error claim in the context of the right to a public trial. The Supreme Court adopted at least three broad rationales for identifying errors as structural. "One is when the right at issue does not protect the defendant from erroneous conviction but instead protects some other interest—like the defendant's right to conduct his own defense—where harm is irrelevant to the basis underlying the right. See *United States v. Gonzalez–Lopez*, 548 U.S. 140, 149, n. 4, 126 S.Ct. 2557, 165 L.Ed.2d 409. Another is when the error's effects are simply too hard to measure—e.g., when a defendant is denied the right to select his or her own attorney—making it almost impossible for the government to show that the error was "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt,"

*Chapman*, supra, at 24, 87 S.Ct. 824. Finally, some errors always result in fundamental unfairness, e.g., when an indigent defendant is denied an attorney, see *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 343–345, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799.

The United States Supreme Court has found an error to be "structural," and thus subject to automatic reversal, only in a "very limited class of cases." *Johnson v. United States*, 520 U.S. 461, 468, 117 S.Ct. 1544, 137 L.Ed.2d 718 (1997) (citing *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963) (complete denial of counsel); *Tumey v. Ohio*, 273 U.S. 510, 47 S.Ct. 437, 71 L.Ed. 749 (1927) (biased trial judge); *Vasquez v. Hillery*, 474 U.S. 254, 106 S.Ct. 617, 88 L.Ed.2d 598 (1986) (racial discrimination in selection of grand jury); *McKaskle v. Wiggins*, 465 U.S. 168, 104 S.Ct. 944, 79 L.Ed.2d 122 (1984) (denial of self-representation at trial); *Waller v. Georgia*, 467 U.S. 39, 104 S.Ct. 2210, 81 L.Ed.2d 31 (1984) (denial of public trial); *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993) (defective reasonable-doubt instruction)) See also, *Deck v. Missouri*, 544 U.S. at 624, 125 S.Ct. 2007, 161 L.Ed.2d 953 (2005)(the due process guarantees embodied in the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution forbid the use of visible shackles during trial unless their use is justified by an essential state interest, such as where there is danger of violence or escape).

Structural errors are constitutional defects that "'defy analysis by "harmless error" standards' because they 'affect[] the framework within which the trial proceeds, rather than simply [being] an error in the trial process itself.' "*Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 309 and 310, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991). Such errors permeate "[t]he entire conduct of the trial from beginning to end" so that the trial cannot "'reliably serve its function as a vehicle for determination of guilt or innocence.' "*Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at 309 and 310, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302, quoting, *Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 577–578, 106 S.Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986).<sup>4</sup>

See also *State v. Franklin*, 97 Ohio St.3d 1, 2002-Ohio-5304, 776 N.E.2d 26, ¶ 79, noting that the presence of restraints tends to erode the presumption of innocence that the justice system attaches to every defendant.

# C. The presence of the victim-witness at counsel table does not implicitly vouch for the witness's credibility or amount to structural error.

The claims that a victim-witness's presence at counsel table implicitly vouches for the witness's credibility and the idea that this practice amounts to structural error have been considered and rejected, most notably in cases wherein the government representative is also the victim. In United States v. Charles, 456 F.3d 249 (1st Cir. 2006) cert denied 549 U.S. 1214, 127 S.Ct. 1260, 167 L.Ed. 2d 89 (2007) he First Circuit of the Federal Appeals Courts addressed this issue. In Charles, the appellant argued that the district court failed to recognize the "prejudice inherent when a victim sits at counsel table" claiming that the victim's presence at counsel table improperly bolstered the victim's credibility. Appellant argued that this practice is so inherently prejudicial that the defendant need not demonstrate actual prejudice in order to make a due process violation. The defendant's argument relied in large part on *Deck v. Missouri*, 544 U.S. 622, 125 S.Ct. 2007, 161 L.Ed 2d 953 (2005). In *Deck* the Supreme Court held that the due process guarantees embodied in the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution forbid the use of visible shackles during trial unless their use is justified by an essential state interest, such as where there is danger of violence or escape. Deck v. Missouri, 544 U.S. at 624, 125 S.Ct. 2007, 161 L.Ed.2d 953 (2005). The First Circuit rejected the defendants argument stating, "neither the Supreme Court nor inferior appellate tribunals, to our knowledge, have held that the presence of a victim at counsel table is inherently prejudicial in the same way found by the Supreme Court in Deck nor can we see any prejudice of that magnitude. The Court further held that the defendant failed to provide any convincing reasons to establish that he suffered any prejudice by the victim sitting at counsel table. Therefore absent a specific showing of prejudice there was no abuse of discretion in allowing the victim to sit at counsel table nor did it amount to a due process violation. United States v. Charles, 456 F.3d 249, 260 (1st Cir.2006); See, United States v. Adams, 8882 F.2d 1218 (7th Cir. 1989) (holding that allowing a DEA Agent, a witness for the State, to sit at counsel table did not amount to a "tacit endorsement" of the Agent by the State or a violation of due process); See also, United States v. Valencia-Riascos, 696 F.3d 938 (9th Cir. 2012)( holding "no

general constitutional principle ... render[s] it impermissible for a case agent who was also the victim in the case" to sit at the prosecution's table so as to "prevent the district court from exercising its discretion in favor of allowing the case agent to sit there." Citing *United States v. Charles*, 456 F.3d 249, 260 (1st Cir.2006)). These cases required the jury to make a determination of credibility between two witnesses.

Nothing about the circumstances in this case, distinguish it from the cases where these claims have been rejected. The victim-witness's presence at counsel table did not amount to structural error. Furthermore, the witness's presence at counsel table did not amount to implicit vouching. Montgomery's right to a fair trial was not violated by the victim's presence at counsel table.

### D. Any constitutional error in this case requires a harmless error analysis.

If this Court determines that allowing the victim-witness to sit at counsel table implicitly vouches for the witness's credibility and denies the defendant's right to a fair trial, then the harmless-error analysis applies.

The United States Supreme Court as recognized that "most constitutional errors can be harmless." *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. at 306, 111 S.Ct. 1246. For example "[I]f the defendant had counsel and was tried by an impartial adjudicator, there is a strong presumption that any other [constitutional] errors that may have occurred are subject to harmless-error analysis." *State v. Hill*, 92 Ohio St.3d 191, 197, 749 N.E.2d 274 (2001), quoting, *Rose v Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 579, 106 S.Ct. 3101, 92 L.Ed.2d 460 (1986). Thus, harmless error is appropriate where there is "overwhelming evidence or guilt" or "some other indicia that the error did not contribute to the conviction." *State v. Ferguson*, 5 Ohio St.3d 160, 166, 450 N.E.2d 265 (1983). If a court determines that the error did not affect the defendant's substantial rights, then the error is harmless and "shall be discarded." *State v. Fisher*, 99 Ohio St.3d 127, 2003-Ohio-2761, 789 N.E.2d 222, ¶7, quoting Crim.R. 52(A).

In this case, if there was error, the error was harmless. This was not a he said/she said case. The victim was the only person that testified to what happened. She took the stand and testified to being held against her will by Montgomery and being forced to engage in sexual intercourse two times. The victim's history of the events was consistent with the testimony of her sister, Nichole Johnson, the S.A.N.E. nurse and Detective Mongold. The physical injuries that were observed and photographed support her claim that the intercourse was not consensual. The bloody tissue in the waste basket observed by her grandmother and recovered by the detective support her history of being punched in the nose and bleeding. The jury took more than four hours to deliberate and reached a split decision finding Montgomery guilty of rape and kidnapping but not guilty of the sexual motive specification. A jury, whose ability to independently judge credibility simply by the presence of the victim-witness at counsel table would have simply concluded that the defendant was guilty as charged. For these reasons any error in the proceedings was harmless and the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeals should be affirmed.

### **CONCLUSION**

Montgomery argues that the laws in the State of Ohio do not specifically give the trial court the authority to allow a victim-witness to be present at counsel table therefore the trial court never has the discretion to permit this practice. Montgomery argues that allowing the victim-witness to sit at counsel table is so inherently prejudicial, that the showing of actual prejudice is not necessary. Their premise appears to be that if it can't be dis-proven then it must be proven. It's like boxing with a shadow. These types of nebulous arguments are the reason why victim advocates have fought long and hard to un do the progressive alienation of the victim from the courtroom.

A criminal defendant has the right to due process- a fair trial and an impartial jury. Any practice that unmistakably puts the mark of guilt on the defendant should be severely scrutinized. Victim's rights laws provide due process for a victim. Likewise any practice that limits access, or fair participation in the process and does not require some substantial showing of prejudice should

also be severely scrutinized. In balancing these interests, the State is seeking truth. The victim and the defendant are seeking justice. And the court is providing a fair process.

Jurors are presumed to follow a trial court's instructions. Jurors understand and presume that the State will, during the presentation of the case, present the testimony of a victim whose testimony will be subject to scrutiny through cross-examination. Generally, the trial court advises jurors that it is their job to judge the credibility of witnesses for both the prosecution and the defense. In any case, the jurors' role is as important to the State, as it is to the defense. We don't presume that in civil trials, where there are two parties to the case, that by sitting at counsel table the jurors will find one, or the other more credible. Why should we jump to such a conclusion when a victim, usually the only other party to the crime, with a legitimate interest in the outcome, would be anymore likely to be believed by a jury simply because of the courtroom arrangement.

It is not surprising that the defense would argue for the victim-witness's exclusion from counsel table. The victim's presence in any capacity is historically alarming to the defense. When the victim is present, the Juror's don't just hear a story. The story has a face and a family and in some cases a life altering experience. This is not lost on a jury. Nor is putting a face to the victim so inherently prejudicial that jurors automatically disregard the same face and family of an innocent defendant. The humanity of a victim, does not, without more, act like shackles on a defendant during a criminal trial.

The laws of the State of Ohio do by language and practice, provide the trial court with the discretion to allow a victim-witness to be present at counsel table. If the trial court abused its discretion, then the defendant must establish actual prejudice. In this case, Montgomery can not establish that the protocol amounted to actual prejudice and/or contributed to his conviction. His actions on March 16, 2019, caused his conviction.

The Court has discretion to determine which criminal cases to review with few exceptions.

After reviewing the entire record here, this Court should find that Montgomery failed to properly represent the record below. There was no argument below that allowing the victim-witness to sit at

counsel table implicitly vouches for the witness's credibility. There was no argument below that allowing the victim-witness to sit at counsel table amounted to structural error. The constitutional arguments presented before this Court, were not raised before the lower courts and therefore jurisdiction has been improvidently granted.

For these reasons the State moves this Court to find that the jurisdiction to review the Appellant and Amicus's constitutional claims were improvidently granted. The constitutional claims were not made below and the record does not support the arguments.

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